
 
 
 
 
 

March 18, 2025 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
 
The Honorable Peter B. Hegseth 
Secretary 
Department of Defense  
 
Dear Secretary Hegseth: 
 

I’ve long encouraged the Department of Defense (DOD) to be more transparent and accountable.  
There’s no doubt the swamp President Trump has vowed to drain crosses the Potomac into Arlington.  The 
DOD has never passed an audit, despite having responsibility for a huge segment of the federal budget.1  Its 
contract processes often avoid full competition, despite the preference in federal law for fully-competed 
contracting.2  To make matters worse, Washington’s infamous revolving door is spinning more swiftly at the 
DOD than almost anywhere else in the federal government.3  At a very minimum, when concrete allegations of 
corruption are identified, DOD should take them seriously and act to instill confidence that the Department 
understands its responsibilities to the taxpayer.  DOD’s Inspector General (OIG) should leave no stone unturned 
investigating allegations of impropriety to restore the trust of the American people.  That’s not what happened 
with the JEDI cloud contract.  That planned-contract was scrapped in 2021, but the allegations of corruption 
surrounding it haven’t been resolved.  For years, I’ve outlined in detail major flaws in the OIG’s report on the 
matter.4  The subjects of my investigation, Ms. Sally Donnelly and Mr. Andre Pienaar, as well as Amazon, have 
flatly refused to cooperate and continue to obstruct this congressional investigation.5  I write today to bring your 
attention to the fact that Ms. Donnelly, despite this obstruction and serious and unresolved allegations of 
corruption related to the JEDI contract, absurdly sits on the Defense Business Board advising DOD on contract 

                                                           
1 Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Floor Remarks before the U.S. Senate, Grassley ‘Raises Cain’ Over the Pentagon’s Long Time Financial 
Mismanagement (Jan. 30, 2025), https://www.grassley.senate.gov/news/remarks/grassley-raises-cain-over-the-pentagons-long-time-
financial-mismanagement; Ashley Roque, Pentagon Fails 7th Audit in a Row, Eyes Passing Grade by 2028, Breaking Defense 
(November 15, 2024), https://breakingdefense.com/2024/11/pentagon-fails-7th-audit-in-a-row-eyes-passing-grade-by-2028/.  
2 See, e.g., Rhys McCormick and Gregory Sanders, Trends in Department of Defense Other Transaction Authority Usage, Center for 
Strategic & International Studies (May 2022) at 7 (noting the “rapid growth in the DOD’s usage of OTAs” with DOD increasing OTA 
usage from FY2015 to FY2020 by 2,030 percent), https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-
public/publication/220525_McCormick_Trends_OTA.pdf?VersionId=JrTKXLxEFSrSGQh.CaObBZnbZAJkWZ.i.   
3 Open Secrets, Federal Agency Revolvers (last accessed Mar. 5, 2025) (showing DOD behind only the White House, House of 
Representatives, and Department of State in the number of employees who were former lobbyists or employees who went from a 
government entity to lobbying firms), https://www.opensecrets.org/revolving-door/federal-agencies.  
4 Letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Chairman, Senate Comm. on the Judiciary, to the Hon. Tammy Hull, Vice Chair, Council of 
the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency (CIGIE) (Feb. 4, 2025), https://www.grassley.senate.gov/download/grassley-to-
cigie_-jedi-report-peer-review.  
5 Letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Ranking Member, Senate Comm. on the Budget, and the Hon. Nancy Mace, Member of 
Congress, to Mr. Andre Pienaar, Chief Executive Officer and Founder, C5 Capital (July 13, 2023); Letter from Sen. Charles E. 
Grassley, Ranking Member, Senate Comm. on the Budget, and the Hon. Nancy Mace, Member of Congress, to Ms. Sally B. Donnelly, 
Pallas Advisors (July 13, 2023); Letter from Christopher Armstrong, Partner, Holland & Knight, Counsel for Mr. Andre Pienaar, to 
Sen. Charles E. Grassley and the Hon. Nancy Mace (July 27, 2023); Letter from Michael N. Levy, Partner, Ellerman Enzinna Levy, 
PLLC, counsel for Ms. Sally Donnelly, to Sen. Charles E. Grassley and the Hon. Nancy Mace (Sept. 1, 2023); Letter from Sen. 
Charles E. Grassley and the Hon. Nancy Mace to Christopher J. Armstrong (Oct. 10, 2023); Letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley and 
the Hon. Nancy Mace, to Michael N. Levy (Oct. 10, 2023); Letter from Michael N. Levy, to Sen. Charles E. Grassley and the Hon. 
Nancy Mace (Oct. 25, 2023), all linked as exhibits to Sen. Grassley’s letter to CIGIE, supra n. 4; see also, Letter from Christopher 
Armstrong, to Sen. Charles E. Grassley and the Hon. Nancy Mace (Oct. 30, 2023); other emails and notes of phone conversations on 
file with staff.   
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processes.6  In this role, she’s entrusted with a Top Secret/SCI security clearance.7  If ever there was a case of 
the fox guarding the henhouse, that’s it.  Unless she ceases her years-long obstructive conduct against Congress, 
Ms. Donnelly neither deserves to be on a taxpayer funded DOD advisory board nor maintain a high-level 
security clearance.   

 
To inform your consideration, I’m attaching correspondence with Ms. Donnelly and Mr. Pienaar, as well 

as their replies through counsel.  In addition, both counsels, by email and phone conversations, have refused to 
answer further substantive questions related to Ms. Donnelly’s tenure at DOD and details surrounding her 
former consulting company.8  This is completely unacceptable for someone holding a position of trust for DOD.  
I’m also attaching a speech I gave on the Senate floor, which pointed to flaws in the DOD OIG’s consideration 
of the matter, as well as my correspondence with Amazon.  Amazon has now parroted the obstruction of Ms. 
Donnelly and Mr. Pienaar by refusing to answer my questions and document requests.9   

 
As you’ll see from the attached correspondence, Ms. Donnelly gave misleading statements to the OIG 

when it asked who purchased her consulting firm, SBD Advisors, which she sold before entering DOD service 
in 2017.  She sold her company to a shell company created by C5 Capital the day before the purchase.10  This 
corresponds with C5 Capital’s own efforts to deceive the public.  It made false statements through the media, 
denying connection to the purchase of Ms. Donnelly’s firm in 2017, and claiming it purchased the firm instead 
the next year, in 2018.11  My oversight later revealed the identity of the C5 company that purchased the 
business.12  That C5 Capital company continued to pay Donnelly for the purchase of her firm while she was in 
government service, even as Amazon continued to pay now C5-owned SBD Advisors for consulting to gain 
DOD cloud business.13   

During Ms. Donnelly’s tenure at DOD, Amazon officials used their inside access to its advantage.  
Amazon senior cloud sales officials worked with her to arrange a dinner with Secretary Mattis.  An Amazon 
Vice President, Teresa Carlson, used the dinner to invite the Secretary to meet with Amazon founder and then-

                                                           
6 U.S. Dep’t of Defense, Defense Business Board, Biography for Sally Donnelly, Founding Partner, Pallas Advisors (last accessed 
March 5, 2025), https://dbb.defense.gov/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=5t7tr8hp5eM%3D&portalid=35.  
7 Letter from Jennifer C. Walsh, U.S. Department of Defense, Performance Improvement Officer and Director of Administration and 
Management, to Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Chairman, Senate Comm. on the Judiciary (Feb. 25, 2025), on file with staff.   
8 Emails and conversation notes on file with staff.   
9 Letter from Shannon L. Kellogg, Vice President, AWS Public Policy, Americas, to Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Chairman, Sen. Comm. 
on the Judiciary (Jan. 24, 2025) https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/2025-01-24_amazon_to_grassley_-
_amazon_jedi_record_request.pdf.  
10 Letter from Senator Charles Grassley, Ranking Member, U.S. Senate Comm. on the Judiciary, to Lloyd J. Austin, 
Secretary, Dep't of Defense, and Sean O'Donnell, Acting Inspector General, Dep't of Defense, Office of the 
Inspector General (October 24, 2022), 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_to_defense_deptdefenseinspectorgeneralsbdadvisorsllcconflictsofinterestrev
iew1.pdf.  
11 JEDI: Secretive, Influential Consulting Firm 's Close Ties to Amazon Web Services and DOD Raise Additional 
Questions Around JEDI Contract, The Capitol Forum, Vol. 6 No. 225 (June 8, 2018) (citing a statement by a C5 spokesperson who 
claimed, “[n]either C5 Capital nor any of its venture capital funds or employees bought any shares from Sally Donnelly in January 
2017 when she sold her interest in the firm before commencing public service . . . Sally Donnelly did not receive any compensation 
from C5 or its portfolio companies while in government”), on file with staff; see also press release, C5 Capital-backed ITC Secure 
Acquires US-based SBD Advisors, Private Equity Wire (Mar. 4, 2018) (press release from C5 announcing in 2018 it purchased SBD 
Advisors, even though it purchased it the year before), on file with staff.  
12 Letter from Senator Grassley to Secretary Austin and Acting Inspector General O’Donnell, supra n. 10.  
13 See, e.g., Andrew Kerr, Government Ethics Watchdogs Fear Amazon’s Web of Influence May have Tainted Pentagon’s $10 billion 
JEDI Cloud Deal, Daily Caller (August 8, 2018) (Noting Price Floyd, a principal and spokesman for SBD Advisors, said SBD 
Advisors “continued to consult for AWS until March or April 2018”), https://dailycaller.com/2018/08/08/sally-donnelly-defense-
department-jedi-cloud-amazon/. 
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July 27, 2023 

Via E-mail 

The Honorable Charles E. Grassley
United States Senate
135 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510

The Honorable Nancy Mace
United States House of Representatives
1728 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, DC  20515

Re: July 13, 2023 letter to André Pienaar

Dear Senator Grassley and Congresswoman Mace:

On behalf of my client, André Pienaar, I write in response to your letter of July 13, 2023. As you 
note in your letter, Mr. Pienaar has provided assistance to previous inquiries related to the 
Department of Defense (“DoD”) Inspector General's (“DoD IG”) 2020 report on the Joint 
Enterprise Defense Infrastructure (“JEDI”) Cloud Procurement. This matter has been fully 
reviewed by the DoD IG, the Government Accountability Office (“GAO”), the U.S. Court of 
Federal Claims, and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit—and all relevant claims 
have been dismissed. Nevertheless, we appreciate this opportunity to further respond to questions 
on this matter and dispel the continued falsehoods being disseminated by the Oracle Corporation 
(“Oracle”). 

Oracle has lobbied for years to secure congressional support for a debunked conspiracy theory 
that in reality is a common business grievance against a competitor, Amazon. Oracle has also 
aired these grievances with the Office of Management and Budget, the Council of Inspectors 
General on Integrity and Efficiency, and the Department of Justice. Each relevant authority 
rejected this debunked conspiracy theory. 



The Honorable Charles E. Grassley 
The Honorable Nancy Mace 
July 27, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 

  

Our letter states the facts of the matter in question, responds to statements in Senator Grassley’s 
October 24, 2022 letter to Secretary Lloyd J. Austin and Acting Inspector General Sean 
O’Donnell, and also responds to your request. 

The Facts 

The allegation at the root of the debunked conspiracy is that Mr. Pienaar sought to obtain an 
improper advantage for Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), of which his wife, Teresa Carlson, was 
an executive, in connection with the JEDI Cloud Procurement. This allegation is based on the 
well-established falsehood that Mr. Pienaar sought this influence by purchasing Sally Donnelly’s 
business, SBD Advisors, when she joined DoD as an advisor to Secretary Jim Mattis. This claim 
has been widely circulated by Oracle in an effort to show why the company lost the since-
cancelled JEDI contract, which AWS also lost (it was awarded to Microsoft).1 The claim is 
completely and totally false. It has been debunked by every neutral arbiter who has reviewed the 
matter, including:  

 The DoD OIG concluded—in a 300+ page report issued after conducting more than 80 
interviews and reviewing 32 gigabytes of documents and information—that there is “no 
evidence that Ms. Donnelly gave Amazon officials greater or more frequent access to 
meetings with Secretary Mattis than Amazon’s competitors who requested to meet with 
him”; that there is “no evidence that Ms. Donnelly was involved in or influenced any 
aspect of the JEDI Cloud procurement”; and that there was no evidence to substantiate 
complaints of ethical improprieties against Ms. Donnelly.2 

 The DoD OIG, in response to questions from Senator Grassley, reiterated its 
conclusions—and the extensive investigation of which they were the product—and 
specifically explained that it “found no evidence that Secretary Mattis’ meetings with 
Amazon differed substantively from similar meetings with Amazon’s industry 
competitors,” that Ms. Donnelly did not have “any role” in “shaping or developing the 
JEDI Cloud acquisition,” and that Ms. Donnelly “complied with her disclosure 

 
1 It would not be in the best interests of our country’s national security to allow an Oracle-driven propaganda 
campaign focused on a repeatedly debunked conspiracy theory to distract from the reality that Oracle has simply 
been unable to compete effectively in the free market. In a recent report by MarketWatch, one analyst made clear 
that “Amazon remains the de facto cloud provider, but Azure does not appear far behind,” Thill said, noting that 
48% of CIOs surveyed reported that AWS was their primary cloud provider, while 43% said Azure, 8% said GCP 
and 3% said Oracle.” Available at https://www.marketwatch.com/story/ai-is-driving-big-gains-in-tech-but-it-is-not-
as-great-a-factor-in-cloud-spending-9bcab5c3. 
2 Inspector General of the Department of Defense, Report on the Joint Enterprise Defense Infrastructure (JEDI) 
Cloud Procurement 7, 9, 200-01 (Apr. 13, 2020) [hereinafter, “Inspector General JEDI Report”], available at 
https://media.defense.gov/2020/Apr/21/2002285087/-1/-
1/1/REPORT%20ON%20THE%20JOINT%20ENTERPRISE%20DEFENSE%20INFRASTRUCTURE%20(JEDI)
%20CLOUD%20PROCUREMENT%20DODIG-2020-079.PDF 
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obligations.”3 It also specifically rejected the accusation that “the DoD OIG downplayed 
Ms. Donnelly’s involvement in a ‘sales pitch’ meeting between Secretary Mattis and 
Amazon and Mr. Bezos in August 2017, and that this meeting had broader implications 
on the formation of the JEDI Cloud procurement process.”4 

 The GAO rejected Oracle’s protest of the JEDI Cloud Procurement and specifically 
rejected Oracle’s assertion that conflicts of interest gave Amazon/AWS an unfair 
competitive advantage in the Procurement.5 

 The Court of Federal Claims likewise rejected Oracle’s protest of the JEDI Cloud 
Procurement, specifically affirming as “reasonable and well supported” the Contracting 
Officer’s conclusion that Amazon/AWS did not obtain any improper “competitive 
advantage.”6 

 The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the Court of Federal Claims’ 
decision rejecting Oracle’s protest of the JEDI Cloud Procurement, specifically rejecting 
“the extensive array of claims raised by Oracle.”7 

 Oracle also presented its same allegations that conflicts of interest gave an unfair 
competitive advantage to Amazon/AWS in the JEDI Cloud Procurement process to the 
Acting Director of the Office of Management and Budget (on April 20, 2020), the 
Executive Chair of the Council of Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency (on 
April 20, 2020), the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Virginia (on June 
23, 2020), and the Public Integrity Section of the Department of Justice’s Criminal 
Division (on September 17, 2020), and those offices all appropriately rejected Oracle’s 
claims. 

Mr. Pienaar’s work to arrange the sale of SBD Advisors was done to assist Ms. Donnelly in her 
diligent efforts to comply with all applicable ethics rules. At no point was this effort intended to 
benefit AWS in any federal contract, at no point did it benefit AWS in any federal contract, and 
any claims to the contrary are false. We are also currently unaware of any instance in which any 
relevant information that was required to be disclosed was withheld during this process. None of 
these facts have prevented Oracle from attempting to spread its conspiracy theories through 
Congress and in the media. 

 
3 Letter from Sean W. O’Donnell (Acting Inspector General, Department of Defense) to Hon. Charles Grassley & 
Hon. Richard Durbin at 3-4 (Sept. 15, 2021) [hereinafter “Inspector General Letter to Sen. Grassley”], available at 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/defense_dept.inspectorgeneraltograssleyjedireview.pdf. 
4 Id. at 3. 
5 In re Oracle America, Inc., B-416657; B-416657.2; B-416657.3; B-416657.4 (GAO Nov. 14, 2018), available at 
https://www.gao.gov/assets/b-416657%2Cb-416657.2%2Cb-416657.3%2Cb-416657.4.pdf. 
6 Oracle Am., Inc. v. United States, 144 Fed. Cl. 88, 125-26 (2019). 
7 Oracle Am., Inc. v. United States, 975 F.3d 1279, 1302-03 (Fed. Cir. 2020). 
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Due to reasons known only to Oracle and its leadership, rather than devoting its resources to 
taking on their competitors and providing superior service to the federal government and 
taxpayers, Oracle has chosen to spend its time, resources, and reputation on Capitol Hill to attack 
my client, Mr. Pienaar, his wife Teressa Carlson, and public servants such as Ms. Donnelly.  

Senator Grassley’s June 24, 2022 Letter to Mr. Pienaar and October 24, 2022 Letter to 
Secretary Austin 

On June 24, 2022, Senator Grassley wrote to Mr. Pienaar requesting certain information related 
to the sale of SBD Advisors.8 Following my client’s full cooperation with this inquiry, including 
an in-depth briefing from counsel on July 26, 2022, Senator Grassley wrote to Secretary of 
Defense Lloyd J. Austin and Department of Defense Acting Inspector General Sean O’Donnell 
on October 24, 2022 (“October letter”) relaying his views on these transactions and their alleged 
relationship with the Department of Defense’s former JEDI Cloud procurement.  

Because your offices show continued interest in this matter, I will first address a number of 
matters from the Senator’s October letter: 

1. On the first page of the October letter, Senator Grassley wrote “[a]s disclosed in her 
[Office of Government Ethics (“OGE”)] Form 278e, dated May 17, 2017, Ms. Donnelly 
reported a payment related to the sale of SBD Advisors LLC for $390,000. On her second 
OGE Form 278e, dated May 4, 2018, and filed two months after her resignation from the 
DoD, Ms. Donnelly reported the second, third, and final partial payments from the sale of 
SBD Advisors LLC totaling $1,170,000, which she received while in federal service. 
Notably, both of Ms. Donnelly’s OGE Forms failed to disclose the identity of the 
purchaser of SBD Advisors LLC.” 

a. It is important to note that OGE Form 278e does not require the filer to disclose 
purchasers, nor does it provide any indication that such information is required or 
expected.9 

b. On pages 49-50 of Ms. Donnelly’s interview with the DoD OIG: “Q: And who 
did you sell SBD Advisors to? A: André Pienaar was the organizer of the sale of 
SBD.”10 

c. On page 200 of the DoD OIG report, “Ms. Donnelly legally divested all of her 
SBD Advisors membership units before she accepted the position as Senior 

 
8 Letter to Secretary Austin and Acting Inspector General O’Donnell, available at 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_to_defense_deptdefenseinspectorgeneralsbdadvisorsllccon
flictsofinterestreview1.pdf. 
9 Available at https://www.oge.gov   
10 Available at https://www.dodig.mil/Portals/48/DODOIG-2020-
001050%201st%20Interim%20response%20records_1.pdf 
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Advisor to Secretary Mattis, and partial payments for selling her stake in the 
company continued to come to her during her DoD employment. She disclosed 
those payments on her OGE 278 forms, as required.”11 

2. The October letter also states on its second page that, “[k]nowledge of the entity that 
purchased Ms. Donnelly’s firm is a relevant and central to the question of whether a 
conflict of interest existed and could have substantively affected the protocols required to 
wall off Ms. Donnelly from potential and actual conflicts of interest while employed at 
DoD.” 

a. Per the OIG report on page 194, there was already a process in place to wall off 
Ms. Donnelly from potential conflicts: "Ms. Donnelly was not Secretary Mattis’s 
scheduler, nor was she the decision-maker regarding his acceptance of meeting or 
dinner invitations." There was a process where members of Sec. Mattis' staff 
would receive input from parts of the office, including the Defense Standards of 
Conduct Office (“SOCO”) ethics officials, to make sure there were legal/ethical 
purposes satisfied. Chief of Staff Sweeney would vet the request after that, and 
refer to Sec. Mattis for final approval. Scheduling and logistics of meetings 
happen thereafter. 

b. That same protocol protected from any potential conflict of interest with AWS, 
per page 195 of the OIG report: "As an example of Ms. Donnelly’s actions 
regarding Amazon access to Secretary Mattis, on April 17, 2017, an Amazon 
representative e-mailed Mr. Anthony DeMartino, former Chief of Staff to Deputy 
Secretary Shanahan and former Deputy Chief of Staff to Secretary Mattis, and 
asked for an April 27, 2017, meeting between Secretary Mattis and Mr. Bezos. 
Mr. DeMartino subsequently consulted Ms. Donnelly about Amazon’s request. 
On April 18, 2017, Ms. Donnelly sent Mr. DeMartino an e-mail stating, “We 
should stand back and let the [Secretary of Defense’s] schedule process work—
we should take no action to help. Not our place, not proper.” Mr. DeMartino 
replied to Ms. Donnelly, “Roger. My thoughts exactly.” 

3. According to Ms. Donnelly’s sworn testimony to the DoD OIG, “André Pienaar was the 
organizer of the sale of SBD.” DoD OIG never asked Ms. Donnelly to expand on what 
she meant by “organizer” of the sale. 

a. André Pienaar did not have interest in purchasing Ms. Donnelly’s company. 
Pienaar was helping a longstanding business partner who needed to sell her 
company quickly to comply within DoD ethics rules. Pienaar agreed to organize 

 
11 DoD IG report, at 200. 
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the sale in less than three days with the intention of selling all shares to other 
investors, which Pienaar subsequently did.  

i. In sworn testimony with DoD OIG Donnelly was asked “Q: So, you said 
you sold 80 percent of SBD. Was there another partner? A: Yes, ma' am. It 
was André Pienaar.”  

4. Page four of the letter states, “[o]n January 19, 2017, three days before she entered 
federal service, Ms. Donnelly sold her 80 percent stake in SBD Advisors LLC to VMAP 
Investor LLC for $1,560,000 paid in two installments of $780.000. According to the 
Purchase and Sale Agreement, the first payment was supposed to be made within two 
weeks of execution of the Agreement and the second payment within six months of the 
first payment. However, according to DoD OIG, Ms. Donnelly ‘did not receive payment 
for SBD Advisors LLC as indicated in the Purchase and Sale Agreement,” but instead 
received four installments of $390,000 paid on January 2017, March 2017, July 2017, 
and March 2018.’” 

a. Ms. Donnelly sold her 80% stake (100% of her shares) and was free and clear of 
SBD Advisers when she joined the DOD. 

b. The payments she received subsequently were unrelated to the performance of 
SBD Advisers and due to her regardless of what happened to the business. 

c. On January 19, 2017, Donnelly received the first payment of $390,000 before 
entering the DOD.  

d. André Pienaar had to find additional investors to raise the capital needed to 
complete the financing of the sale, which is why the deal was structured with 
additional installments. Ms. Donnelly had no idea and no financial interest in who 
those investors might be; she was owed a set amount via installment payments 
from the entity that purchased SBD Advisors no matter who VMAP may have 
turned to later in order to finance that purchase. 

e. As detailed on pages 190-91 of the DoD OIG report, Donnelly received the 
installments of the remainder of the initial deal in March of 2017 ($390,000), July 
2017 ($390,000) and March of 2018 ($390,000).  

5. Page 5 of the October letter states that “[d]espite repeated requests, Mr. Pienaar’s counsel 
refused to identify this investor, but described him or her as someone with experience in 
the mining industry who may have also served on the board of C5 Capital.” 
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a. Again, Mr. Pienaar agreed to fully cooperate with Sen. Grassley and his legal 
counsel met with Senator Grassley’s staff on July 26, 2022, and gave them access 
to an unredacted copy of the agreement the day prior, on July 25. 

6. Page six of the letter states, “[f]or example, according to DoD OIG, ‘[s]ometime in 
March 2017, Ms. Donnelly received the second partial payment of $390,000 from her 
sale of SBD Advisors membership units.” 

a. This was scheduled from the sale of the SBD Advisors prior to Donnelly entering 
DoD and not a new payment. 

b. Per the OIG report pg. 202 “Ms. Donnelly legally divested all of her SBD 
Advisors membership units before she accepted the position as Senior Advisor to 
Secretary Mattis, and partial payments for selling her stake in the company 
continued to come to her during her DoD employment. She disclosed those 
payments on her OGE 278 forms, as required.” 

7. Page six also states, “[a]round this same time, Ms. Donnelly attended a dinner in the 
United Kingdom with Secretary James Mattis, Mr. Pienaar, and Theresa Carlson, then-
Vice President of Amazon Worldwide Public Sector Business, among others.”  

a. The dinner was hosted in honor of the late Duke of Westminster with whom 
Secretary Mattis worked on a voluntary basis to build the new UK Defense and 
Rehabilitation Center (DNRC). Secretary Mattis had missed the Duke’s Memorial 
Service because of his engagement with the Trump transition team.  

b. General Lamb is listed as the Host of this dinner , and the invitation and attendees 
worked its way through the ordinary course for approval at DoD. No cloud 
discussion occurred during the dinner, per Kevin Sweeney, the DoD Chief of 
Staff.12 

c. Page 173 of the DoD OIG report states that, in reviewing the itinerary for the UK 
trip, "The SOCO Attorney wrote in an e-mail, “no ethics objections” for Secretary 
Mattis’ itinerary and the dinner in the U.K. with the named attendees."  

8. Page six also states: “Notably, at this dinner, Ms. Carlson, on behalf of Mr. Jeff Bezos, 
then-President and Chief Executive Officer of Amazon, requested a meeting with 
Secretary Mattis for the purposes of discussing Mr. Bezos’ ‘thoughts/observations on 
DoD’s relationship with the tech [technology] sector.’” This suggests that Ms. Carlson 
made this request. 

 
12 DoD IG report, at 173. 



The Honorable Charles E. Grassley 
The Honorable Nancy Mace 
July 27, 2023 
Page 8 
 
 

  

a. The quoted text is from an email sent by an Amazon representative on April 17, 
2017 - it is not a quote from Ms. Carlson, per page 176 of the DoD OIG report. 

b. Secretary Mattis told OIG investigators that he did not recall “a single mention of 
the cloud or of Amazon” at the dinner, per page 173 of the DoD OIG report. 

c. Admiral Craig Faller, who attended the dinner, told DoD OIG investigators that 
he “heard no discussion about cloud computing during the dinner,” per page 174 
of the DoD OIG report. 

d. When Ms. Carlson was introduced to Sec. Mattis, she was introduced as part of 
AWS Cloud computing, to which Mattis then responded, “that he could not 
envision the DoD moving to the cloud because of potential security issues,” per 
page 174 of the DoD OIG report.  

9. Page six also quotes an AWS Public Sector Blog post stating, “AWS is also one of 
several organizations that support two C5 startup accelerator programs, the Peacetech 
Accelerator in Washington, D.C. and the Cloud 10 Scalerator in Bahrain, to help early-
stage businesses with mentorship, training on cloud computing skills, and access to 
potential investors…. C5 [also] became part of the AWS Partner Network Channel 
Reseller Program for one deal supporting the Bahrain Information and eGovernment 
Authority,’ in April 2017.” 

a. The Peacetech Accelerator was partnered with the United States Institute for 
Peace to support the entrepreneurs from conflict or post conflict countries to build 
startups that could help bring peace to their countries. The Bahrain accelerator 
was focused on supporting female startup entrepreneurs in the Gulf region. 

b. Amazon is the fifth-largest company in the world. It has hundreds, if not 
thousands, of partners. Amazon is one of several companies that supported the 
Peacetech and Cloud 10 Scalerator.  

c. Regarding the Bahrain Information and eGovernment Authority, this involved one 
payment of $3,000 related to Amazon Cloud for use in the Bahrain accelerator. 

10. Finally, the report states: “Taken together, while in government service, Ms. Donnelly 
received payments from VMAP Investor LLC—an entity directly linked to two senior C5 
officials, a company connected to Amazon. These facts were not included in DoD or 
DoD OIG’s conflicts analysis.” 

a. The DoD OIG’s conflict analysis extensively details both of these facts on pages 
188-201. 
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b.  The OIG Conclusion summary of the report refutes these claims. On page 200, 
the DoD OIG writes, “[w]e did not find evidence that she failed to disclose 
payments from SBD Advisors on her OGE 278e, provided preferential treatment 
to Amazon, or improperly participated in the JEDI Cloud procurement because of 
her prior associations with Amazon, SBD Advisors, and C5 Capital.” 

c. On page 201, the DoD OIG concludes, “with regard to financial disclosures and 
SBD Advisors consulting relationships with C5 Capital and AWS, we found that 
Ms. Donnelly sold her SBD Advisors membership units and properly annotated 
both her initial and termination financial disclosure forms to reflect the total 
proceeds she received from the sale of SBD Advisors. She sought ethics advice on 
how to complete this documentation, and submitted the appropriate reports as 
required. In addition to the disclosure of SBD Advisors, she submitted a Periodic 
Report consistent with OGE procedure to disclose financial information involving 
an entity not related to AWS or SBD Advisors and had no connection to the JEDI 
Cloud procurement. We likewise found no evidence that she had an ongoing or 
undisclosed financial relationship with C5 Capital or Amazon and its affiliates 
that would have required her to recuse from any of her official duties during her 
service in the DoD.” 

Your July 13, 2023 Request 

Your recent letter requests a large amount of information, most of which is already known. 
Nonetheless, we are happy to respond to these requests.  

 The first request is for an unredacted copy of the January 2017 Purchase and Sale 
Agreement. This can be easily found as Exhibit D in Senator Grassley’s October letter. 
We previously shared an unredacted copy in confidence on July 25, 2022 – in an effort to 
protect the privacy of individuals who had no business before the United States 
government -  only to find it published online. If you are unable to read that text please 
let us know and we can provide it yet again. 

 The second request is for “[a]ll records between and among you or any party associated 
with C5 or VMAP Investors LLC, and Sally Donnelly, Anthony DeMartino, or any DOD 
official, related to Amazon or the JEDI cloud procurement.” After an extensive search, 
we found no relevant records.  

 The third request is for “[a]ll records between and among you or anyone at C5 or its 
subsidiaries or affiliates and anyone with anyone at Amazon, related to Sally Donnelly, 
SBD Advisors, ITC Global, and the JEDI cloud contract.” After an extensive search, we 
found no relevant records. 
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Your fourth request is for “[f]inancial records reflecting any payments pursuant to the 
January 2017 Purchase and Sale Agreement, including but not limited to each of the 
purported $390,000 payments previously referenced in the DoD OIG Report.” Details of 
all the relevant payments are already in your possession and in the public domain. No 
payments were made other than those already disclosed by Sally Donnelly to the DOD.

Your fifth request is for “financial records of all payments from Amazon, or any person 
or entity acting on behalf of Amazon, received by you, C5 Capital, or any of its 
subsidiaries, officers, or employees at any time from 2015 to the present.” C5 Capital has 
never received any funds of any kind from Amazon. C5 Accelerate, the division of C5 
that ran C5’s accelerator programs, received matched funds from Amazon in line with its 
standard accelerator support program. In other words, to receive these funds from 
Amazon, C5 Accelerate had to spend an equivalent amount on the accelerator program. 
In Bahrain this was $340,000 in 2017 and for the Peacetech Accelerator $300,000 in 
2018.

Your sixth request is for “financial records relating to any consideration you paid in 
connection with the sale of SBD Advisors….” We have already briefed Senator 
Grassley’s staff on this issue and have no new information. 

Your seventh request is for “all agreements and financial records relating to and 
consideration paid to Pallas Advisors (or any related entity) from Amazon (or any related 
entity), or C5 (or any related entity).” C5 has never had any dealings with Pallas 
Advisers.

Your eighth, and final request, is impossibly broad. The request is for “all records 
reflecting communications between and among you or your representatives and any CS 
entity or person in connection with SBD Advisors.” I welcome clarification on what this 
request means.

Thank you for this opportunity to clarify the facts on this matter.

Christopher J. Armstrong
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    October 10, 2023   
 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
 
Mr. Christopher J. Armstrong  
Partner 
Holland & Knight 
800 17th St. NW 
Washington, DC 20006  
 
Dear Mr. Armstrong:  
 
 Thank you for your July 27th letter responding to our JEDI inquiry.  However, your 
response on Mr. Pienaar’s behalf is seriously deficient, and it misrepresents a number of key 
points.  And no records backing up your assertions were provided.  This is an opportunity for Mr. 
Pienaar to give his version of the facts and to support them with records.  It’s not Congress’s 
duty to defer to a single Department of Defense Office of Inspector General (OIG) investigation, 
and its report, which was riddled with problems.  Congress has authority to independently review 
the matter and the OIG’s work, especially since we possess new information that the OIG failed 
to obtain.  It’s within your client’s power to provide answers and records that would help us 
reach the truth, but your client has declined to do so.  We welcome information from any source 
that furthers the public interest and gets us closer to the truth, and we’re conducting an 
independent investigation following the facts wherever they lead.   
 
 Any claim that “[t]his matter has been fully reviewed by . . . the Government 
Accountability Office (‘GAO’), the U.S. Court of Federal Claims, and the U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the Federal Circuit” isn’t accurate.  Neither Mr. Pienaar nor Ms. Donnelly is mentioned even 
once in the final decisions in any of those proceedings.1  And of course, Mr. Pienaar’s disclosure 
late last year that a C5 company, VMAP, was formed for the purpose of buying Ms. Donnelly’s 
consulting firm, was new information that couldn’t have been analyzed in those proceedings 
because of Ms. Donnelly’s and C5’s successful efforts to conceal that fact from the public eye.  
Given information that is new, and unanswered questions that are old, this matter is ripe for 
examination to complete the public record. 
 
 While it would be unwieldy to respond to every comment in your eleven-page letter, 
many of which don’t directly relate to your client, it’s helpful to look at some of the main points.  
We’ll start off by noting that almost all of your letter responds to Senator Grassley’s October 
2022 letter to Secretary Austin and Acting Inspector General O’Donnell, and not to our recent 
joint letter.  Your letter also attempts to speak on behalf of Ms. Donnelly, who isn’t your client, 

                                                           
1 U.S. Gov’t Accountability Office, Decision in the Matter of Oracle America, Inc. (November 14, 2018), 
https://www.gao.gov/assets/b-416657,b-416657.2,b-416657.3,b-416657.4.pdf; Oracle Am., Inc. v. United States, 
144 Fed. Cl. 88 (2019), aff'd, 975 F.3d 1279 (Fed. Cir. 2020). 
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even making claims about her state of mind.  Although there are plenty of reasons to call many 
of your assertions into question, we’ll only address matters with you that involve your client. 
 
 Your letter claims that you’re, “currently unaware of any instance in which any relevant 
information that was required to be disclosed was withheld during this process [of the sale of 
SBD Advisors and subsequent proceedings].”  If this were true, it would mean there’s no legal 
obligation to candidly answer a direct question in an OIG investigation.  As our previous letter 
noted, Ms. Donnelly was directly asked in the course of an official OIG interview who purchased 
her company, and rather than truthfully revealing the role your client’s business, C5 Capital and 
VMAP, played in the purchase, she instead claimed that, “Andre Pienaar was the organizer of 
the sale of SBD.”  (Emphasis added.)  While you’re correct that the OIG didn’t ask Ms. Donnelly 
to expand on her statement, that doesn’t excuse her for offering a non-answer, and it also 
illustrates why this congressional investigation is necessary.  She also had the duty to correct the 
misunderstanding her evasive answer created.  The OIG understood Ms. Donnelly to mean that 
your client personally was the purchaser of her firm, as evidenced by the OIG’s next question:   
 

Q: And who did you sell SBD Advisors to?   
 
A: Andre Pienaar was the organizer of the sale of SBD.  
 
Q: Do you remember the date that you sold the company to Andre Pienaar?  
 
A: I believe we signed the documents on the 19th of January, 2017, but I probably owe you a 
confirmation if I can find the paperwork.2 
 

Ms. Donnelly not only didn’t correct this false impression, but she answered as though that 
understanding was correct.  We need to know whether your client had any role in Ms. Donnelly’s 
decision to hide the identity of the purchaser and represent your client as merely “the organizer,” 
and if so, why he wanted information concealed linking C5 and VMAP to the purchase.    
 
 Your letter also touches on the March 31, 2017, U.K. dinner, at which your client, Ms. 
Teresa Carlson, Ms. Donnelly, Secretary Mattis, and others were present.  Because your client 
was present at this dinner, we’ll address some of your points here as well.  You selectively quote, 
as did the OIG, the DOD Standards of Conduct Office (SOCO) attorney who wrote that there 
was, “no ethics objection” regarding the dinner.  This perfectly illustrates yet again why your 
reliance on the OIG report, and your expectation that we should do so, is misguided.  The email 
you refer to was sent March 24, 2017, from DOD Office of General Counsel (OGC), and it 
didn’t indicate that a full ethics screening had been performed.  Instead, the email focused upon 
whether the Secretary “may accept the ‘gift’ of the meal,” and which ethics exemptions would 
allow that gift.3   

                                                           
2 U.S. Dep’t of Defense, Office of Inspector Gen., Interview of Sally B. Donnelly (August 15, 2019) at 6 (emphasis 
added), https://www.dodig.mil/Portals/48/DODOIG-2020-
001050%201st%20Interim%20response%20records_1.pdf.  
3 Email from redacted sender, Senior Attorney and Deputy Designated Agency Ethics Official, Standards of 
Conduct Office, Office of General Counsel, U.S. Dep’t of Defense, to redacted recipient in Office of the Secretary 
of Defense (March 27, 2017 at 5:19 p.m.), on file with staff.   
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Indeed, the email to OGC ethics official regarding the dinner, which prompted the SOCO 
email, didn’t even identify either your client’s or Ms. Carlson’s business affiliations, which 
would have been necessary to conduct a full and complete ethics review. 

This is unlike the list of attendees supplied for the New York dinner (which the Secretary
attended on his way to the U.K.), which did include attendees’ corporate affiliations. 
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Ms. Donnelly, at the time, also had not disclosed her ongoing payments from your 
client’s company because she hadn’t filed an ethics disclosure yet and wouldn’t file it until 
nearly two months after the U.K. dinner.  Accordingly, ethics officials couldn’t have considered 
that information.4  Ms. Donnelly’s former company, SBD Advisors, reportedly maintained 
Amazon as a client throughout Ms. Donnelly’s time at the DOD, which if true means that Ms. 
Donnelly was being paid for the purchase even as funds reportedly came in to SBD Advisors
from Amazon.5  

It is also important to note that the U.K. dinner laid the groundwork for the JEDI 
contract, as it led to the August 10, 2017, meeting between Mr. Bezos and Secretary Mattis that 
was behind the Secretary’s decision to move the DOD to the cloud, apparently with the intent to 
award the massive contract without competition solely to Amazon.6  While you repeatedly allude 
to the fact that Microsoft ultimately was awarded the JEDI contract, that fact isn’t dispositive as 
to the questions we are investigating, which is whether serious conflicts were allowed to exist at 
DOD and whether your client or Ms. Donnelly improperly attempted to use her role at DOD for 
private gain.  

                  
4 Letter from Senator Charles Grassley, Ranking Member, U.S. Senate Comm. On the Judiciary, to Lloyd Austin, 
Secretary, U.S. Dep’t of Defense, and Sean O’Donnell, Acting Inspector General, Dep’t of Defense, Office of the 
Inspector General, Exhibit A, Sally Donnelly New Entrant Report, OGE Form 278e, (October 24, 2022), 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_to_defense_deptdefenseinspectorgeneralsbdadvisorsllccon
flictsofinterestreview1.pdf. 
5 The Daily Caller, Andrew Kerr, Government Ethics Watchdogs Fear Amazon’s Web of Influence May Have 
Tainted Pentagon’s $10 Billion JEDI Cloud Deal (August 8, 2018), https://dailycaller.com/2018/08/08/sally-
donnelly-defense-department-jedi-cloud-amazon/. 
6 See, e.g., email, William Roper, United States Air Force, to Pat Shanahan, Deputy Secretary of Defense, and Ellen 
Lord, Undersecretary for Acquisitions (August 12, 2017) (reporting on Secretary Mattis’s August 10, 2017 Amazon 
visit and noting that Secretary Mattis made an “important decision” on that trip, and that the Secretary, “now 
believe[d] in Cloud tech and wants to move the Departments to it”), forwarded to Ms. Donnelly by Anthony 
DeMartino (August 14, 2017 at 7:20 a.m.); email, Jennifer Chronis, Amazon Web Services, to Joshua J. Marcuse, 
Office of the Secretary of Defense (September 6, 2017 at 7:07 a.m.) (referencing “cost estimates [from Amazon] for 
a notional DoD move to the cloud”);  memo, Patrick Shanahan, Deputy Secretary of Defense (co-authored by 
Anthony DeMartino), for secretaries of the military departments, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Under 
Secretaries of Defense, et alia, Subject: Accelerating Enterprise Cloud Adoption (September 13, 2013) (directing the 
“use of a tailored acquisition process to acquire a modern enterprise cloud services solution that can support 
unclassified, secret, and top-secret information,” a directive that later is referenced in Air Force acquisition 
documents as meaning that, “The AWS Cloud Solution is a DoD priority as per the Secretary of Defense 
Memorandum dated 13 Sep. 2017 . . . .”), all documents on file with staff.  
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Indeed, three weeks following the U.K. dinner, at which your client’s then-partner, 
Teresa Carlson, an AWS vice president responsible for AWS sales to DOD, invited Secretary 
Mattis to meet with Amazon CEO Jeff Bezos, Donnelly continued singing the praises of 
Amazon, which the “Why Bezos” email below clearly illustrates, and pushed hard for the
meeting between Mr. Bezos and Secretary Mattis that was first offered in your client’s presence.7

She also offered advice to an Amazon official in preparation for the Secretary’s meeting with 
Mr. Bezos days before it occurred, in response to the salesperson’s request for “general 
guidance,” and any, “landmines [Amazon] should avoid,” during Amazon’s presentation to the
Secretary.8  The meeting between Secretary Mattis and Mr. Bezos resulted in the JEDI 
procurement, as it was the catalyst for Secretary Mattis’s decision to move DOD data to the 
cloud.9  

When a DOD official notified Ms. Donnelly that the August meeting between Mattis and 
Bezos had “morph[ed] into an AWS sales pitch,” that made the official uneasy (“I didn’t get a 
good vibe out of it”), but that Secretary Mattis left the meeting “‘99.9% there’ in terms of going 

                  
7 Email, Sally B. Donnelly to Craig Faller, Subject: Why Bezos (April 23, 2017 at 2:17 a.m.), on file with staff. 
8 Email, Jennifer Chronis, General Manager, Amazon Web Services, to Sally Donnelly, Subject: SecDef Visit Next 
Week (August 4, 2017 at 10:19 p.m.) (the email from Ms. Chronis also asks Ms. Donnelly to “put a bug in some 
ears” about resistance Amazon is receiving from DOD CIO with reference to, “cloud and major policy blockers”); 
reply email, Sally Donnelly to Jennifer Chronis (August 4, 2017 at 4:40 p.m.) (Donnelly gives advice for Amazon’s 
presentation to Secretary Mattis, advising Amazon that, “[u]sing one example of DOD obstacles to cloud (if that is 
what below) would be helpful.  Also security security security of cloud.  Oh yeah, and if we see power point, that 
will not be helpful. :)”), on file with staff.  
9 Supra n. 6. 
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to the cloud,” Donnelly responded: “Excellent.”10  So much for Ms. Donnelly being walled off 
from matters related to Amazon, as you and the OIG claim.   
 
 Congress needs to know whether your client had any conversations with Ms. Donnelly 
related to her efforts to promote Amazon and her attempts to push for a meeting between Mr. 
Bezos and the Secretary, and whether he was aware of any such conversations between Ms. 
Donnelly and Ms. Carlson.  We also request your client describe any knowledge he may have of 
Ms. Donnelly’s role in Ms. Carlson’s attendance at the London dinner and any discussions Ms. 
Carlson may have had with Ms. Donnelly related to her plan to ask Secretary Mattis to meet with 
Mr. Bezos.  
 
 As a final note on the U.K. dinner, your letter’s accounting of the event, again relying on 
the OIG report, shows just how muddy the record is.  Your letter notes that Secretary Mattis told 
OIG investigators he didn’t recall, “a single mention of the cloud or of Amazon” at the dinner, 
but only two bullet points later, your letter notes that, “[w]hen Ms. Carlson was introduced to 
Sec. Mattis, she was introduced as part of AWS [Amazon Web Services] Cloud computing,” 
after which your letter points out that Secretary Mattis directly offered his thoughts on whether 
the DOD should move to the cloud.  As you and your client can plainly see, it’s important that 
Congress hear your client’s version of what was discussed at that meeting and not just repetition 
of a discredited OIG report.   
 
 Your letter leaves a number of other issues just as muddy.  It claims, for example, that 
your client, Mr. Pienaar, had no interest in purchasing SBD Advisors and was simply helping a 
longtime business partner comply with her ethics obligations.  The letter notes that, “Pienaar 
agreed to organize the sale in less than three days with the intention of selling all shares to other 
investors, which Pienaar subsequently did.”  To this day and despite Senator Grassley’s repeated 
inquiries, your client has not disclosed which investors purchased SBD Advisors from C5 and 
Mr. Pienaar in 2017.  You also haven’t identified which “additional investors” Mr. Pienaar relied 
upon “to raise the capital needed to complete the financing of the sale” in such a short amount of 
time.   
 
 Your client has also failed to explain why C5 publicly claimed it had nothing to do with 
the initial purchase of the company and quickly sold it off, only to buy it back the next year with 
a public announcement making it seem this was C5’s first exposure to the company.11  He’s also 
failed to explain why the public website of ITC Global Advisors (the new name given to Ms. 
Donnelly’s former firm) was taken down not long after C5 re-acquired shares of it in 2018 and 
why there seems to be no public advertising seeking clients for ITC Global Advisors.  It also 
appears that there was no non-compete agreement in place, which allowed Ms. Donnelly to 
found a carbon-copy firm, Pallas Advisors, after her short tenure at DOD.  These facts taken 
together make one wonder what exactly your client was paying Ms. Donnelly for.  We need the 
details of every step of the process of divesting and re-acquiring Ms. Donnelly’s former 

                                                           
10 Email, Redacted sender (CIV SD) to Sally Donnelly (August 10, 2017 at 2:35 PM); email, redacted sender (CIV 
SD) to Sally Donnelly (August 10, 2017 at 2:59 pm), on file with staff.  
11 Press release, ITC Secure Acquires U.S. U.S.-based SBD Advisors, Business Wire (April 3, 2018), 
https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20180403005624/en/ITC-Secure-Acquires-U.S.-based-SBD-Advisors.  
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company, including financial records documenting all capital contributions in SBD Advisors by 
Mr. Pienaar and all purchases of shares in the company by any party, before we can be confident 
we’ve reached the facts of this matter. 
 
 Your letter’s claims as to the existence of records we requested raises red flags.  Your 
letter claims that Senator Grassley’s office already has a copy of the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement.  This is false.  There is quite a difference between an unredacted copy and a redacted 
copy on which staff penciled in information viewed in camera.  Our request is for an unredacted 
copy of the original contract, and your client has not complied with that request.   
 
 The next claim in the letter, that your client found no relevant records related to our 
request for, “[a]ll records between and among [Mr. Pienaar] or any party associated with C5 or 
VMAP Investor LLC, and Sally Donnelly, Anthony DeMartino, or any DOD official, related to 
Amazon or the JEDI cloud procurement,” is very surprising.  This would mean that Mr. Pienaar and 
C5 have no records, for example, of communications with Ms. Donnelly related to Amazon 
consulting, or Ms. Donnelly’s consulting for C5 related to Amazon.12  Your client also failed to 
respond to our request for, “[f]inancial records reflecting any payments pursuant to the January 2017 
Purchase and Sale Agreement, including but not limited to each of the purported $390,000 payments 
previously referenced in the DoD OIG Report.”  This request is not ambiguous.  It requests financial 
records related to the payments, not just certain details that are “in the public domain.”   
 
 Your letter also claims that, “C5 Capital has never received any funds of any kind from 
Amazon,” other than matching funds from Amazon related to “C5’s accelerator programs.”  Our 
request specifically asked for financial records of all payments from Amazon to, “C5 Capital, or any 
of its subsidiaries, officers, or employees at any time from 2015 to the present.”  C5 has had at least 
some business dealings with Amazon by Amazon’s own admission.  For example, an AWS blog 
entry notes that, “[i]n April of 2017, C5 became part of the AWS Partner Network (APN) Channel 
Reseller Program for one deal supporting the Bahrain Information and eGovernment Authority 
(iGA).”13  Please describe the extent of C5’s reseller relationship with Amazon, and clarify whether 
it is distinct from the accelerator program you referenced in your letter.  We request, again, that your 
client provide records related to any payments received.  And of course, we’ve already referenced 
news reports that SBD Advisors continued to receive payments from Amazon after C5 purchased 
it.14  Your client should clarify whether these reports are accurate.  If so, any payments received from 
Amazon while SBD Advisors was owned by C5 would fall under our request as well.   
 
 Your client entirely ignored our request for, “financial records relating to any consideration 
[Mr. Pienaar or C5] paid in connection with the sale of SBD Advisors.”  While your letter notes that 
you’ve already briefed Senator Grassley’s office on this sale, that wasn’t the request.  We specifically 
requested financial records.    
 
                                                           
12 Interview with Sally Donnelly, supra n. 2 at 9 (when Ms. Donnelly was asked what years she was a consultant for 
C5 Capital, she responded, “I believe I started . . . the beginning of 2013 . . . [t]hrough when I went into the 
government and sold the company.”)  
13 AWS Public Sector Blog, Setting the Record Straight on Inaccurate Reporting about AWS and JEDI (December 
13, 2018), https://aws.amazon.com/blogs/publicsector/setting-the-record-straight-on-inaccurate-reporting-about-
aws-and-jedi/.  
14 The Daily Caller, supra n. 5.  



Mr. Pienaar/Mr. Armstrong
October 10, 2023

Page 8 of 8

Your client apparently had trouble understanding the final request for, “all records reflecting 
communications between and among [Mr. Pienaar] or [his] representatives and any CS [sic] entity or 
person in connection with SBD Advisors.”  This request also is not ambiguous.  It’s looking for any 
communications, or related documents, where your client is discussing anything to do with SBD 
Advisors (now known as ITC Global Advisors) with any C5 entity or person.  This would most likely 
involve Mr. Pienaar’s internal communications within C5, or with its board members, employees, 
affiliates, subsidiaries, investors, etc. If your client is unable to understand any of our other requests, 
please let us know, and we’ll be happy to explain them.  

We request that your client supply the requested records by October 24, 2023, and we 
reiterate our request for a transcribed interview with your client on this matter.  

Sincerely,

_______________________ _______________________
Charles E. Grassley Nancy Mace
Ranking Member                                                               Member of Congress
Senate Committee on the Budget    Committee on Oversight & Accountability



   
   

             October 10, 2023  
Mr. Michael N. Levy 
Partner 
Ellerman Enzinna Levy PLLC 
1050 30th St. NW 
Washington, DC  20007 
 
Dear Mr. Levy:  
 
 Thank you for your September 1, 2023, letter responding to our July 13 letter to your 
client, Ms. Sally Donnelly.  Our letter pointed to still-unanswered questions about your client’s 
potential role in advancing the interests of C5 Capital and its business partner, Amazon, while 
employed at the Department of Defense as a senior advisor to then Secretary James Mattis.  
Though you want to claim that these questions have all been answered, they haven’t, and we will 
continue to press for answers from your client and urge her cooperation with our investigation.   
 
 Before getting into the substance of your letter, however, we want to address your 
implication that we were somehow delayed in notifying you of our inquiry.  You noted in your 
reply that Senator Grassley’s staff, “only sent a copy of this letter [to you] after 7:00 pm on 
August 10, less than 24 hours before [you were] scheduled to begin a long-planned August 
vacation.”  We wrote Ms. Donnelly on July 13 both by certified mail and by email to Pallas 
Advisors.  She failed both to pass that communication along to you and to notify us that you 
represent her in this matter.   
 
 To start with, your letter addressed some of the same topics raised in the July 27 response 
from Mr. Christopher Armstrong of Holland & Knight’s Washington, D.C. office, who 
represents Mr. Pienaar in this inquiry.  Indeed, in that response, Mr. Armstrong made assertions 
as to your client’s state of mind that are more properly your responsibility to make, and so we 
urge you to review that correspondence and advise us whether the claims made about your client 
by Mr. Armstrong are accurate.1   
 
 Like Mr. Armstrong’s July 27 letter, your response continuously references the report on 
the JEDI Cloud procurement issued by the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) at the 
Department of Defense.  Congress has a constitutional responsibility to review the work of the 
inspectors general, just as it has oversight of the agencies they serve.  We have raised a number 
of questions about, and objections to, the OIG’s report.  Continuing to simply argue from that 
report as if it’s a dispositive authority is unpersuasive.  In future responses it would be helpful to 
see original documents rather than references to a report that, while helpful in certain respects, is 
not the final authority on a matter that it failed to adequately report on initially, and a matter 
which has continued to develop since the report was issued.                                                           
1 Letter from Christopher J. Armstrong, Partner, Holland & Knight, to Senator Charles E. Grassley and Rep. Nancy 
Mace (July 27, 2023), https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/pienaar_to_grassley_mace_-_jedi.pdf.  
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 Indeed, Senator Grassley has uncovered significant new information since that report was 
issued, especially the fact that C5 Capital and Mr. Pienaar formed a company, VMAP Investor 
LLC, just before Ms. Donnelly entered her position at the DOD in 2017, apparently for the sole 
purpose of purchasing her stake in SBD Advisors.  Ms. Donnelly took a number of steps to avoid 
disclosing the identity of that company to officials who had a right to know it.2  She didn’t 
provide the name of the company, or its links to Amazon-affiliated C5 Capital, on her initial 
financial disclosure forms filed with the Department of Defense; she didn’t reveal the name of 
the company that purchased her firm on her termination financial disclosure forms upon leaving 
the Department of Defense in 2018; and she failed to provide the identity of the company that 
purchased her firm even in response to a direct question from the DOD Inspector General’s 
office.3  We need to know why.  
 
 Moreover, while your letter quotes the OIG’s report and its discussion of Ms. Donnelly’s 
financial disclosures and its findings that, “Ms. Donnelly did not violate any ethical agreements 
and obligations regarding Office of Government Ethics financial disclosures,” you haven’t 
explained how providing the amount of payments received is useful in an ethics review without 
naming the source of the income.  As we have already quoted to you, the Office of Government 
Ethics’ (OGE) instructions for completing OGE Form 278, the financial disclosure form Ms. 
Donnelly completed upon entering service at the DOD, filers are required to provide, “sufficient 
information” to ethics officials, “concerning the nature of their outside interests and activities so 
that an informed judgment can be made with respect to compliance with applicable conflict of 
interest laws and standards of conduct regulations.”4  It makes little sense to claim Ms. Donnelly 
was required to disclose the dollar amount of the transaction, but not to disclose the source, as 
the amount of a transaction by itself never tells one whether a conflict exists.  Moreover, even if 
the source somehow was not required, neither you nor the OIG report has explained why it was 
satisfactory for Ms. Donnelly to report a single $390,000 payment on her entry financial 
disclosure, even though at the time it was filed in May 2017, she had received two installment 
payments, not just one.5  That second payment was received in March 2017, well before she filed 
her initial disclosure, leaving her ample time to report it.  She didn’t do so.  Again, this creates 
the appearance that she consciously attempted to avoid disclosing the ongoing financial link to                                                         
2 Letter from Senator Charles E. Grassley, Ranking Member, Senate Committee on the Budget, and Rep. Nancy 
Mace, House Committee on Oversight and Accountability, to Christopher Anderson, Partner, Holland & Knight 
(October 10, 2023).   
3 U.S. Dep’t of Defense, Office of Inspector Gen., Interview of Sally B. Donnelly (August 15, 2019) at 6 (emphasis 
added), https://www.dodig.mil/Portals/48/DODOIG-2020-
001050%201st%20Interim%20response%20records_1.pdf.  
4 U.S. Office of Gov’t Ethics, OGE Form 278 Executive Branch Personnel Public Financial Disclosure Report, 
Instructions for Completing OGE Form 278, 
https://www.oge.gov/web/oge.nsf/0/A7FBDC0209B57819852585B6005A06C4/$FILE/8c47512231004e2d98b6966
829afebfb4.pdf.  
5 See Letter from Senator Charles Grassley, Ranking Member, U.S. Senate Comm. on the Judiciary, to Lloyd J. 
Austin, Secretary, U.S. Dep't of Defense, and Sean O'Donnell, Acting Inspector General, Dep't of Defense, Office of 
the Inspector General (October 24, 2022), 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_to_defense_deptdefenseinspectorgeneralsbdadvisorsllccon
flictsofinterestreview1.pdf. 
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VMAP and C5 during her tenure at DOD.  We will continue to ask why until a satisfactory 
answer is provided.   
 
 Of course, once it’s established that a conflict existed, a key question then is whether the 
conflicted official took actions irrespective of that conflict.  Here, the question is whether Ms. 
Donnelly took actions to favor C5 Capital and Mr. Pienaar, who were paying Ms. Donnelly 
installment payments, and their business partner and Ms. Donnelly’s former client, Amazon.  
Your letter claims that, “[w]hile at the Department of Defense, Ms. Donnelly had no role in 
acquisition or procurement.  She played no role, and exercised no influence, in connection with 
any government contract, including – as the Department of Defense has confirmed repeatedly – 
the JEDI procurement.”  We’re well aware that the case has been made that Ms. Donnelly played 
no formal role in the JEDI contract, and that she certainly wasn’t supposed to play a role, but to 
say that she played no role at all is simply inaccurate and avoids now well-known facts.  Not 
only did she play a role, but she played what at the time was a key one: the OIG report noted—a 
source your letter frequently cites—the OIG interviewed Mr. Kevin Sweeney, Secretary Mattis’s 
Chief of Staff in 2017, and he told the OIG that he thought Ms. Donnelly set up the March 31, 
2017, dinner in the U.K. that included Secretary Mattis, Ms. Donnelly, along with Andre Pienaar 
and Amazon Public Sector Sales Vice President, Teresa Carlson, Mr. Pienaar’s then girlfriend.  
Mr. Sweeney also said that he thought Ms. Donnelly invited her friend, Ms. Carlson, to that 
dinner.6  As you must be aware, Ms. Carlson used that opportunity to ask Secretary Mattis to 
meet with then Amazon CEO, Jeff Bezos.7  Internal DOD records show that Ms. Donnelly 
strongly pushed for that meeting to occur, praising Mr. Bezos as, “the genius of our age,” and 
listing myriad reasons the Secretary should meet him.8  When the meeting did occur, on August 
10, 2017, it turned into a sales pitch for Amazon Web Services and led to the Secretary’s 
decision to move the Department to the Cloud, and to Amazon becoming the lead contender to 
provide that service to DOD. 9                                                          
6 U.S. Department of Defense, Office of the Inspector General, Report on the Joint Enterprise Defense Infrastructure 
(JEDI) Cloud Procurement (April 13, 2020) at 174, https://media.defense.gov/2020/Apr/21/2002285087/-1/-
1/1/REPORT%20ON%20THE%20JOINT%20ENTERPRISE%20DEFENSE%20INFRASTRUCTURE%20(JEDI)
%20CLOUD%20PROCUREMENT%20DODIG-2020-079.PDF.  
7 Letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley and Rep. Nancy Mace, supra n. 2 (quoting email, Sally Donnelly to Admiral 
Faller (April 23, 2017): “He [Jeff Bezos] asked [Secretary Mattis to meet with Mr. Bezos] (via Teresa Carlson at the 
dinner in London.),” on file with staff.   
8 Email, Sally Donnelly to Kevin Sweeney, Adm. Craig Faller, et al., Re: Flagging – Jeff Bezos office call on 
Thursday, 27 April (April 21, 2017 at 4:00 p.m) (Donelly and Admiral Faller are asked if they, “want to accept the 
office call with Jeff Bezos of Amazon and Blue Origin,” and told that, “CoS [the Chief of Staff] defers to [Donnelly 
and Faller] for SecDef consideration,” and Donnelly replies: “I think he is the genius of our age, so why not.”), on 
file with staff; letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley and Rep. Nancy Mace, supra n. 2.  
9 Email, Redacted sender (CIV SD) to Sally Donnelly (August 10, 2017 at 2:35 PM); email, redacted sender (CIV 
SD) to Sally Donnelly (August 10, 2017 at 2:59 pm); email, Will Roper, United States Air Force, to Patrick 
Shanahan, Deputy Secretary of Defense, and Ellen Lord, Undersecretary for Acquisitions (August 12, 2017) 
(reporting on Secretary Mattis’s August 10, 2017 Amazon visit and noting that Secretary Mattis made an “important 
decision” on that trip, and that the Secretary, “now believe[d] in Cloud tech and wants to move the Departments to 
it”); email, Jennifer Chronis, Amazon Web Services, to Joshua J. Marcuse, Office of the Secretary of Defense 
(September 6, 2017) (referencing “cost estimates [from Amazon] for a notional DoD move to the cloud”);  memo, 
Patrick Shanahan, Deputy Secretary of Defense (co-authored by Anthony DeMartino), for secretaries of the military 
departments, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Under Secretaries of Defense, et alia, Subject: Accelerating 
Enterprise Cloud Adoption (September 13, 2013) (directing the “use of a tailored acquisition process to acquire a 
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 Indeed, internal emails also show that during the period after the Secretary’s August visit 
with Mr. Bezos, Ms. Donnelly was working to, “crush the bureaucratic impediments” that career 
DOD officials were mounting against Amazon as it sought this lucrative cloud contract.10  Your 
client needs to explain whether she knew in advance of the U.K. dinner that Ms. Carlson would 
issue the invitation to the Secretary, whether she invited Ms. Carlson and Mr. Pienaar to the U.K. 
dinner to provide them the opportunity to initiate this major sales pitch for the benefit of Ms. 
Donnelly’s former client, and also her actions at DOD following the U.K. dinner, both to 
encourage the Secretary to meet with Mr. Bezos and, later, to “crush the bureaucratic 
impediments” to Amazon being awarded the contract.  

 
 Ms. Donnelly facilitating Ms. Carlson’s access to the Secretary, the ongoing payments to 
Ms. Donnelly from C5 and Mr. Pienaar, and furthering Amazon’s efforts to win a contract to 
supply the DOD with cloud services create, at minimum, the clear appearance of a conflict.  As 
we explained to Mr. Armstrong, the lack of a non-compete agreement and the apparent lack of 
public advertising or web presence by the later iteration of SBD Advisors, ITC Global Advisors, 
along with Ms. Donnelly’s return to the same type of consulting work after her time at DOD, 
creates legitimate questions about what C5 and Mr. Pienaar were paying for.  If this impression 
is incorrect, it’s incumbent upon Ms. Donnelly to provide her version of events which, again, is 
what we’ve always sought so that this matter can be put to rest. 
 
 Your letter response says that Ms. Donnelly didn’t do anything for Amazon she didn’t do 
for other companies vying to provide cloud services to the DOD.  Indeed, your letter repeats the 
OIG’s finding that it found, “no evidence that Ms. Donnelly gave Amazon officials greater or 
more frequent access to meetings with Secretary Mattis than Amazon’s competitors who 
requested to meet with him.”   If this is true, we certainly welcome your client to provide records 
and statements to back it up.  If you have any contemporaneous emails, for example, that show 
Ms. Donnelly referring to CEOs of Microsoft, Apple, Google, Oracle or any other competitors as                                                         
modern enterprise cloud services solution that can support unclassified, secret, and top-secret information,” a 
directive that later is referenced in Air Force acquisition documents as meaning that, “The AWS Cloud Solution is a 
DoD priority as per the Secretary of Defense Memorandum dated 13 Sep. 2017 . . . .”), all documents on file with 
staff.   
10 See email, Enrique Oti to Greg Oslan, cc to Raj Shah and Sean Heritage (August 25, 2017 at 10:59 a.m.) noting 
that he had spoken with “the AWS team” putting together the Secret-level AWS cloud…” and that, even though 
they had a, “great meeting with SecDef,” their “talks last week with DOD/CIO and DISA were interesting.”  This 
email referred to “pushback,” and says that “everything we do for AOC and the rest of the ops community should be 
riding AWS SPIR.” Apparently dissatisfied with the resistance described in Mr. Oti’s email, Raj Shah then 
forwarded Oti’s email to Justin Mikolay, an advisor to Secretary Mattis, with a cc to Sally Donnelly, Subject: FWD: 
Cloud Computing (UNCLASSIFIED) (August 25, 2017 at 1:07 p.m.), saying it was “crucial that the sd [Sally 
Donnelly] memo crush the bureaucratic impediments,” referenced in Oti’s email.  Mr. Mikolay replied to Mr. Shah 
by email that same day at 4:22 p.m., again copying Ms. Donnelly, advising him that, “Sally is already working 
angles with this note providing but targeting data (who to crush) and ammunition (reason to crush)….”  A little over 
two weeks after this exchange, on September 13, 2017, a memo was released by Deputy Secretary Patrick Shanahan 
by the title of “Accelerating Enterprise Cloud Adoption,” ordering a “tailored acquisition process to acquire a 
modern enterprise cloud services solution that can support unclassified, secret, and top secret information.”  
(Emphasis added.)  That memo is later cited in Air Force procurement documents as meaning that, “[t]he AWS 
Cloud Solution is a DoD priority as per the Secretary of Defense Memorandum dated 13 Sep 2017” (Justification 
and Approval (J&A) for Other Than Full and Open Competition, on file with staff).  
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anything similar to, “the genius of our age,” or listing a host of reasons the Secretary should meet 
with those corporate leaders, we’d welcome the opportunity to possess and review those records.  
If you have any materials showing that Ms. Donnelly was working behind the scenes to “crush 
the bureaucratic impediments” to one of these other companies gaining a lucrative contract to 
supply the DOD with cloud services, we ask that you submit those.  And if you have any 
examples of Ms. Donnelly arranging intimate dinner meetings between close personal friends 
she may have in any of these other competitors and Secretary Mattis, by all means, we welcome 
the chance to possess and review that evidence as well.  We have said all along and repeat that 
we will follow this investigation wherever the facts lead us.  What we won’t do, however, is 
accept mere assertions that contradict the known record and common sense. 

We again want to thank you for providing a response to our letter.  It is important that we 
continue this dialogue, to turn the incomplete public record on this matter into a complete and 
final record.  Nothing less than your client’s full cooperation will satisfy our inquiry, and assure 
taxpayers that proper procedures are in place to prevent the misuse of the public offices they 
fund with their hard-earned dollars.  We therefore ask that you provide a detailed response to the 
points raised in this letter and to our prior information requests, by October 24, 2023.  

Sincerely, 

_______________________                                                                _______________________
Charles E. Grassley                                                    Nancy Mace
Ranking Member                                                               Member of Congress
Senate Committee on the Budget    Committee on Oversight & Accountability
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Christopher J. Armstrong

October 30, 2023 

Via E-mail 

The Honorable Charles E. Grassley
United States Senate
135 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510

The Honorable Nancy Mace
United States House of Representatives
1728 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, DC  20515

Re: October 10, 2023 letter to André Pienaar

Dear Senator Grassley and Congresswoman Mace:

On behalf of my client, André Pienaar, I write in response to your letter of October 10, 2023. 
This is the third letter to my client on this matter, following the request from Senator Grassley on 
June 24, 2022 and the joint request from both offices on July 13, 2023. My client has spent well 
over a year responding to these requests.  

Following the initial request, as Mr. Pienaar’s counsel, I conducted several calls with staff 
throughout the summer and fall of 2022 responding to questions, met with staff for an in-depth 
briefing on August 26, 2022, shared a full and unredacted copy of the original agreement in 
question beforehand, and shared relevant emails with staff on October 24, 2022. With all due 
respect to both of your offices, my client has nothing further to add on this matter.  

Sincerely,

Christopher J. Armstrong 









December 17, 2024  

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

Mr. Andy Jassy
President and Chief Executive Officer
Amazon.com, Inc. 

Dear Mr. Jassy: 

As the former head of Amazon Web Services during the relevant time period, you likely 
know I’ve never relented in my pursuit of the truth about the ill-fated Joint Enterprise Defense 
Infrastructure (JEDI) cloud contract.1  Although this contract ultimately was canceled, Amazon 
was a main contender for that massive $10 billion planned award in the 2017-18 time period.2  
Since April 2019, I’ve raised questions about conflicts of interest infecting that contracting
process.  

The leading figure in this saga, Ms. Sally Donnelly, a senior advisor to Secretary of 
Defense James Mattis in the early stages of the procurement, was at the time of her employment 
at DOD a recent Amazon consultant who should have been recused from advancing Amazon’s 
interests.3  Ms. Donnelly also continued to receive payments for the divestiture of her consulting 
business, SBD Advisors, from an Amazon business partner, C5 Capital, and its head, Mr. Andre 
Pienaar, when she entered DOD service.4  Mr. Pienaar was a longtime business associate of 
Donnelly’s and now the husband, then the boyfriend, of Amazon’s then Vice President for sales 
to DOD, Teresa Carlson.5  Ms. Carlson had conversations with Donnelly during her employment 
at DOD related to Amazon’s interest in obtaining cloud business at DOD.6  

                  
1 LinkedIn Profile, Mr. Andy Jassy, CEO, Amazon Web Services (AWS) from May 1997 – July 2021, 
https://www.linkedin.com/in/andy-jassy-8b1615/. 
2 See, e.g., Rosalie Chan, As bidding closes, Amazon’s cloud is the favorite to win a $10 billion defense deal. Here’s why 
everybody else is so mad about it, BUSINESS INSIDER (Oct. 12, 2018), https://www.businessinsider.com/heres-why-amazon-is-
heavily-favored-to-win-the-10-billion-jedi-contract-2018-
10#:~:text=The%20Department%20of%20Defense%20is,as%20the%20other%20major%20contender. 
3 U.S. Dep’t of Defense, Off. of Inspector Gen., Interview of Sally Donnelly (August 15, 2019) at 9 (when Ms. Donnelly was 
asked what years she was a consultant for C5 Capital, she responded, “I believe I started . . . the beginning of 2013 . . . [t]hrough 
when I went into the government and sold the company”), https://www.dodig.mil/Portals/48/DODOIG-2020-
001050%201st%20Interim%20response%20records_1.pdf. 
4 Letter from Senator Charles Grassley, Ranking Member, U.S. Senate Comm. on the Judiciary, to Lloyd Austin, Secretary, U.S. 
Dep’t of Defense, and Sean O’Donnell, Acting Inspector Gen., Dep’t of Defense, Off. of the Inspector Gen., especially Exhibit 
A, Sally Donnelly, New Entrant Report, OGE Form 278e, and Exhibit B, Sally Donnelly, Termination Report, OGE Form 278e, 
(October 24, 2022), 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_to_defense_deptdefenseinspectorgeneralsbdadvisorsllcconflictsofintere
streview1.pdf. 
5 Sara Sirota, Pentagon Audit Found Connection Between Mattis-Era Defense Department And Amazon-Linked British 
Consultant, THE INTERCEPT (June 14, 2021), https://theintercept.com/2021/06/14/pentagon-defense-department-amazon-mattis/. 
6 See, e.g., email from Teresa Carlson to Sally Donnelly, Subject: AWS Fact Sheet, emailed on January 17, 2018, the day of a 
Washington, D.C. dinner Ms. Donnelly helped organize, attended by Secretary Mattis, Ms. Donnelly, Mr. Pienaar, Ms. Carlson, 
and Mr. Bezos, which took place as DOD was finalizing draft bid specifications for the JEDI contract; the “fact sheet” included 
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 Facts I’ve learned in the course of my investigation have raised serious questions about 
Ms. Donnelly’s clear advocacy for Amazon in its bid to obtain a DOD cloud contract.7  I’ve also 
scrutinized the efforts of Ms. Donnelly and Mr. Pienaar to hide the source of payments from C5 
Capital to Donnelly during her tenure at DOD; the true purpose of intimate dinners Ms. Donnelly 
helped arrange that included Donnelly, former Secretary of Defense James Mattis, Ms. Carlson, 
Mr. Pienaar, and one of which included former Amazon CEO Jeff Bezos; as well as serious 
misrepresentations and omissions in the DOD Inspector General’s (OIG) report on the JEDI 
procurement.8  It’s unacceptable that nearly seven years after Ms. Donnelly finished her role at 
DOD, there are still as many unanswered questions as there are answers, and there’s an official 
report on the matter that isn’t worth the paper it’s printed on.  That must change, so the American 
people can be confident corruption hasn’t taken root in a contracting process funded by the 
taxpayer.   
 
 Since you were at the time the CEO of AWS as it attempted to gain the JEDI contract, 
you may have personal knowledge of Amazon’s interactions with Ms. Donnelly during her 
tenure at DOD.  So that Congress may continue to investigate this public integrity matter, I 
request that you produce the following records without redactions no later than December 31, 
2024:9  

1. A list of all individual sums paid by Amazon to Ms. Sally Donnelly, Mr. Andre Pienaar, C5 
Capital, and SBD Advisors from January 1, 2017, to the present, along with a complete summary 
of the reason for each payment, all services performed in exchange for each payment, and a list 
of all individuals who performed those services;10  

                                                           

ten bullet points about AWS apparently designed to promote AWS, including mention of how many new “services and features” 
AWS has since 2011, how AWS had “been continually expanding its services to support virtually any cloud workload,” and how 
AWS offers a “robust, fully featured technology infrastructure platform in the cloud . . .”), on file with Committee staff.  
7 See, e.g., Sen. Charles E. Grassley, address on the floor of the U.S. Senate, During Sunshine Week, Grassley Discusses Lessons 
Learned from the JEDI Cloud Procurement, YouTube (March 15, 2021), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DPF8-kXa7G0.  
8 See, e.g., Letter from Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Ranking Member, Sen. Comm. on the Budget, to Michael N. Levy, Partner, 
Ellerman Enzinna Levy PLLC (attorney for Ms. Donnelly) (October 10, 2023), 
https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/grassley_mace_to_michael_levy_sally_donnelly_-_jedi_oversight.pdf; Letter 
from Sen. Charles E. Grassley, Ranking Member, Sen. Comm. on the Budget, to Mr. Christopher J. Armstrong, Partner, Holland 
& Knight (attorney for Mr. Pienaar) (October 10, 2023), https://www.grassley.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/2023-10-
10_grassley_mace_to_chris_armstrong_andre_pienaar_-_jedi_oversight.pdf.  
9 The term “records” includes any written, recorded, or graphic material of any kind, including letters, memoranda, reports, notes, 
electronic data (e-mails, email attachments, and any other electronically-created or stored information), calendar entries, inter-
office communications, meeting minutes, phone/voice mail or recordings/records of verbal communications, and drafts (whether 
or not they resulted in final documents).   
10 Whenever Amazon, C5 Capital, or SBD Advisors, or any other company is mentioned in this request, the request includes all 
employees, officers, affiliates, divisions, subsidiaries, portfolio companies, or any agents whatsoever acting on behalf of the 
entity, whether the numbered request mentions that or not.  For example, a request referencing C5 Capital would include Andre 
Pienaar, members of the C5 Board of Directors, ITC Secure, ITC Global Advisors, VMAP Investor LLC, etc., “Amazon” 
includes Amazon Web Services (AWS) and its officers and employees during the relevant time period, etc. Moreover, where the 
request names any individual, the request includes any company or organization for which that individual is an officer, employee, 
or agent. For example, a request for Sally B. Donnelly would include SBD Advisors when she was in any way associated with 
that firm and Pallas Advisors after its formation.   
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2. All records of communications between and among Amazon, Ms. Sally Donnelly, Mr. Andre 
Pienaar, C5 Capital and SBD Advisors from January 1, 2017, to April 15, 2020;11  
 
3. A complete and unredacted copy of all agreements, formal or informal, entered into by 
Amazon between and among Ms. Sally Donnelly, Mr. Andre Pienaar, C5 Capital, and SBD 
Advisors, a detailed explanation of all services provided for each agreement, and a list of all 
individuals who performed those services.12  Where the agreement is for consulting or other 
services performed related to public sector cloud services, or was entered into between January 
1, 2017 and April 1, 2018, include all contemporaneous records and communications related to 
the agreement;   
 
4.  All communications between and among Ms. Teresa Carlson, Mr. Jeff Bezos, Mr. Andy 
Jassy, or any Amazon officers or sales executives, and Ms. Donnelly, Mr. Pienaar, C5 Capital, 
and Mr. Anthony DeMartino, related in any way to public sector cloud business; and  
 
5. All communications between and among Amazon, Mr. Pienaar, Ms. Carlson, Ms. Donnelly, 
and their representatives or agents, to prepare the response to this letter.   
 
 In responding to this request, if you determine you do not possess responsive records to a 
given request, please note that in your response along with a detailed description of your search, 
the terms used to search for records, and what record systems were searched and not searched.  
Finally, I ask that you make a thorough search of any backup systems that may contain 
responsive records to assure that the response is complete and includes all records responsive to 
the request.  Thank you in advance for your cooperation in this matter.   

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Charles E. Grassley 
Ranking Member 
Committee on the Budget 
 
 

CC: Mr. Jeffrey P. Bezos,  
Founder, Executive Chairman, and former President and CEO of Amazon 

                                                           
11 The term “communications” as used in this letter includes communications by any means, including, but not limited to 
communications by encrypted means, letter, facsimile, email, text/sms or messaging apps, phone call and voice mail, whether or 
not the means of communication used official Amazon-issued devices, servers, or accounts.  
12 The term “agreements” as used in this letter includes contracts, master services agreements, work orders, memoranda of 
agreement, memorialization of oral agreements, and other instruments and agreements of any kind entered into by the referenced 
parties.   
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CONFIDENTIAL

January 2 , 2025 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL

The Honorable Chuck E. Grassley 
United States Senate
135 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, D.C. 20510 

Re: Response to Ranking Member Grassley’s December 17, 2024 Letter Regarding the Joint 
Enterprise Defense Infrastructure Cloud Contract

Dear Senator Grassley: 

We write in response to your December 17, 2024 letter, which requests information from Amazon 
Web Services, Inc. (“AWS”) regarding the Department of Defense’s Joint Enterprise Defense Infrastructure 
(“JEDI”) program.  As you know, the DoD awarded JEDI to Microsoft Corporation more than five years 
ago before cancelling the program in mid-2021.  

AWS appreciates your continued interest in improving the government procurement and contracting 
process.  AWS has always advocated for free and open competition; we firmly believe that a competitive 
contracting environment helps the government receive the best products and services at the most 
competitive prices, ultimately benefiting taxpayers and furthering the interests of the public. 

*  *  *

Your letter focuses on concerns relating to the competitive JEDI procurement, which has been 
subject to six reviews over the past six years.1  AWS complied and cooperated with each investigation and 
its associated requests.  The entities and tribunals that reviewed and rejected claims of impropriety 
surrounding the JEDI procurement process are as follows:  

JEDI contracting officer;
Deputy Director for the Acquisition Directorate of DoD’s Washington Headquarters
Service;
U.S. Government Accountability Office;2

1 When DoD cancelled the JEDI procurement, DoD replaced it with a now-awarded multi-vendor indefinite delivery, 
indefinite quantity (“IDIQ”) vehicle, known as the Joint Warfighting Cloud Capability (“JWCC”) contract.  AWS
supports the DoD’s decision to make JWCC a multi-award contract and believes that the JWCC contract is critical to 
DoD’s adoption of much needed cloud capabilities. 
2 Oracle America, Inc., B-416657 et al., Nov. 14, 2018, available here. 
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U.S. Court of Federal Claims;3

U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit;4 and
DoD Office of Inspector General (“OIG”).5

The OIG investigation is particularly relevant here.  In 2020, the OIG issued a report analyzing the 
JEDI procurement, following a detailed investigation that spanned more than a year and considered four 
separate complaints by Oracle as well as congressional inquiries and other allegations. The OIG’s 
investigation specifically reviewed the concerns raised in your letter.  The OIG conducted a robust 
investigation, one that included a multidisciplinary team of the OIG auditors, criminal and administrative 
investigators, defense acquisition professionals, and attorney advisors.  The OIG examined more than 31 
GBs of emails and 1 GB of relevant documents provided by DoD stakeholders, including memoranda, 
reports, financial disclosure forms, disqualification statements, ethics pledges and other ethics documents, 
travel calendars, meeting agendas, and source selection and requirements development documentation.    

Many of the documents the OIG relied upon in making its findings are publicly available.  In its 
report and supplementary materials, the OIG made public written witness statements, investigation and 
information reports prepared by the OIG, correspondence between the OIG and various parties interested 
in the investigation, and numerous other documents and emails related to the JEDI procurement (including 
some involving meetings between Amazon and DoD officials).  Some of these documents are directly 
responsive to requests in your letter and are publicly available for review.  In addition to reviewing 
documents, the OIG conducted more than 80 interviews of current and former program managers, attorneys, 
ethics officials, other DoD officials involved in the JEDI procurement, and at least one AWS employee. 
Some of these interview transcripts and memoranda, including Sally Donnelly’s transcript,6 are publicly 
available.7   

The OIG concluded that AWS was not afforded any preferential access or treatment.  For example, 
the OIG report stated that there was (1) no “evidence that [Donnelly] failed to disclose [improper] payments 
. . . , provided preferential treatment to Amazon, or improperly participated in the JEDI Cloud 
procurement”;8 and (2) “no evidence that Donnelly gave Amazon officials greater or more frequent access 

3 Oracle America Inc. v. United States, No. 18-1880C at 51–60 (Ct. Fed. Cl. 2019) available here.  It is telling that 
Oracle’s bid protest allegations did not include the purported involvement of either Donnelly or Teresa Carlson.  This 
is despite the fact that Oracle was the driving force behind alleging impropriety on the part of Donnelly and Carlson 
when it complained to the OIG.  Failing to include Donnelly and Carlson in the bid protest shows that Oracle did not 
view those issues as legitimate and that they were unlikely to withstand judicial scrutiny.  
4 Oracle America Inc. v. United States, No. 19-2326 at 31 (Fed. Cir. 2020), available here. 
5 Inspector General, U.S. Dep’t of Defense, Report on the Joint Enterprise Defense Infrastructure (JEDI) Cloud 
Procurement (DODIG-2020-079) (Apr. 13, 2020), here. 
6 As noted in your letter, Donnelly was a senior advisor to Secretary of Defense James Mattis in the early stages of 
the JEDI procurement.
7 A full list of the records from the OIG’s files is publicly available here.  A significant portion of those documents, 
such as Donnelly’s interview transcript, are also publicly available here. 
8 OIG report at 200. 
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to meetings with Secretary Mattis than Amazon’s competitors who requested to meet with him.”9

Throughout these repeated, thorough examinations of the JEDI procurement process, there has been 
no evidence to substantiate any claims of impropriety made regarding the conduct or practices of AWS, its 
employees, or its agents acting on behalf of AWS.  The factual record is comprehensive with contracting 
officers, judges, and the OIG all coming to the same conclusion: there is no material evidence of 
wrongdoing.  The only reason these unfounded allegations have persisted for over six years is because 
Oracle continues to grossly mischaracterize and misrepresent the underlying facts. 

DoD is currently on a path to acquiring the cloud capabilities it requires, through a competitive 
process that has been scrutinized for more than half a decade.  Taxpayer interests have been protected to 
the point where it is hard to see what else could be done that would serve them further without causing 
undue turmoil and resource misallocation.  Asking AWS and others to undertake searches for documents 
that, if they exist, will be many years old and of questionable relevance is unlikely to advance the public’s 
interest or that of any party other than Oracle.10

*  *  *

AWS reserves the opportunity to supplement information in this response letter. In providing 
information and materials responsive to your questions, AWS does not waive any rights, privileges, or legal 
options relating to the Committee’s inquiry. 

*  *  *

Please feel free to have your staff contact me with any questions concerning this response.

Sincerely,

Shannon L. Kellogg 
Vice President, AWS Public Policy — Americas

9 Id. As to the allegations in your letter, you write, “there’s an official report on the matter that isn’t worth the paper 
it’s printed on.”  We assume your letter is referring to the OIG Report and respectfully disagree with your 
characterization of that report given that—as we previously noted—it was based on a lengthy and thorough 
investigation.
10 Separately, the Committee has not identified a valid legislative purpose for its investigation.  As you are aware, a 
committee’s power to investigate is not unlimited. Indeed, a committee must have a legitimate legislative purpose 
for any inquiry, and the scope of the inquiry must be reasonably related to that purpose.  See Trump v. Mazars, 140 
S. Ct. 2019, 2036 (2020).  Neither requirement has been met in this matter.




